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Introduction

ear shareholders, it is with great pleasure that I present to you the Annual Report and 

Financial Statements of the Africa Finance Corporation (“AFC” or the “Corporation”) for the 

financial year ended 31 December, 2011. Despite the challenges in the operating 

environment, I am pleased to report to you that the Corporation emerged stronger and with 

positive results that validate the business case for AFC as an infrastructure focused International financial 

institution in Africa. This performance was achieved through our provision of professional investment 

solutions for infrastructure projects on the continent. Our expanding portfolio of investments and loans and 

growing mandates across the continent confirm the market's acceptance of our investment expertise in our 

chosen focus sectors. This year's financial performance strengthens our optimism about AFC's future, as we 

continue to address Africa's infrastructure problems, while also creating shareholder value. 

2011 Economic and Market Review

Across the globe, major economies and financial markets showed 

some signs of resilience in sustaining the recovery that started in 

2010, albeit at a slow pace. Growth within the Eurozone was mixed, 

as the continuing sovereign debt crisis and recessions in Greece and 

Spain, offset the performance of the stronger economies such as 

Germany. In the US, the economic recovery remained on track, 

albeit at a slow pace, while the major emerging market economies 

maintained their positive growth trajectories. Similarly, many African 

countries showed positive growth trends, with GDP growth rates 

averaging 4.4% in 2011, largely due to higher commodity prices, 

strong macroeconomic policies and relatively stable political 

environments, notwithstanding the spate of elections on the 

continent amidst the Arab Spring. The average growth rate within 

AFC's current operating environment was 5.2%, with Ghana and 

Nigeria recording growth rates of 13.5% and 6.9%, respectively, 

largely the result of high oil and other commodity prices.

In 2011, AFC was able to capture some of the opportunities in these high growth markets. New oil 

discoveries and production in Ghana created new investment opportunities in the country for the AFC. 

Increased activity in Nigeria's oil and gas sector (upstream and midstream) by indigenous companies 

taking advantage of the local content policy as well as divestments by international oil companies (IOCs), 

has led to new investments by AFC.  Similar trends were evident in other sectors, where growth in economic 

activity boosted aggregate demand, with the primary beneficiaries being the agricultural commodities, 

minerals, cement and utilities sectors, leading to new investment projects across the continent. 

A significant number of AFC projects came on stream in 2011. The most notable is Cabeolica, the 

Corporation's landmark renewable energy investment in Cape Verde, which is now fully operational, 

supplying 26 megawatts of wind energy to the national grid. The AFC also completed a US$80m 

acquisition financing for Neconde Limited, a company established by a local investor-led consortium to 

participate in the Shell Nigeria asset divestment program. 
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The Corporation continued to expand its visibility in the region by structuring high profile transactions in its 

core sectors for both corporate and national government clients across the continent. For example, 

together with the African Export-Import Bank and the Banque Internationale pour l'Afrique Occidentale, 

AFC completed a US$320.0m syndicated trade finance facility to finance the importation, processing and 

refining of crude oil by Société Ivoirienne de Raffinage (SIR) of Côte d'Ivoire, Sub-Saharan Africa's largest 

exporter of refined oil products. The transaction was AFC's first in Côte d' Ivoire, partnering with other 

African lenders to provide much needed financial support to the Ivorian economy. Other notable 

investments were executed with PTA Bank and the Government of Zambia in separate trade finance 

transactions which achieved financial close in 2011.

Financial Health of the Corporation

In 2011, AFC continued to deliver on its twin objectives of financial stability and 

profitability. The Corporation's prudent and vigorous risk management 

framework has allowed for accurate and efficient pricing of risk in 

selected projects across geographies. Cross-border risks have been 

mitigated by building a diversified portfolio of investments. The 

Corporation remained very liquid in 2011, taking advantage of 

the stable currency regime in the host country which was bolstered 

by higher interest rates for USD denominated placements.

At the end of 2011, AFC's total asset base was US$1.26bn with 

93% financed through shareholders equity, which gives the 

Corporation sizeable headroom to leverage its balance sheet. 

Total assets grew by US$167.0m through retained profits. Of the 

total asset base, US$648.0m were investments in corporate 

entities with 51% of these committed assets yet to be disbursed. 

However, as the pipeline of projects reach closure, it is expected that 

a substantial part of the Corporation's liquidity will be committed to 

those projects and that additional debt financing will be required by 

the Corporation in the near to medium term. 

Portfolio and Operations Review

In 2011, the Corporation implemented a new business development strategy 

that included a higher degree of one-on-one interaction with existing and 

potential clients, both regionally and internationally. AFC focused on 

strengthening existing partnerships and expanding old 

relationships, resulting, respectively, in follow-on 

opportunities within existing projects and new deals from 

previous relationships. In addition, there was a focus 
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on developing new relationships with the potential for future business opportunities. AFC also focused on 

proactively developing innovative project ideas to present to potential clients, an approach that will be 

strengthened and continued in 2012. 

This approach, coupled with favourable market reactions to existing AFC transactions is resulting in a 

greater flow of pipeline opportunities, creating a new challenge of ensuring sufficient internal capacity to 

execute these mandates. A spate of new mandates won by the Corporation demonstrates the growing 

success of this new approach. Examples include a mandate from the UK based international developer, 

Lonrho Plc, to raise approximately US$500.0m for a new greenfield oil services port in Ghana, and a 

financial advisory assignment from Bonny Gas Transport (BGT), to raise US$1.0bn for new vessels to 

service Nigeria Liquefied Natural Gas Company Limited which was secured in partnership with BNP 

Paribas and Guaranty Trust Bank. 

In 2011, and excluding projects reviewed under the Power and Aviation Infrastructure Fund mandate in 

Nigeria, the Corporation reviewed over US$3.0bn (by value) of potential investment transactions, of which 

US$1.4bn were processed through the system, with US$804.0m in projects receiving final approval and 

over US$755.0m in closed transactions. It should be noted that a significant proportion (nearly 

US$440.0m of the total of US$804.0m approved) of projects approved, are based in Nigeria.

AFC has continued to engage with government institutions to expand its public-sector advisory business. 

This has been very successful in the host country and the Corporation intends to replicate the approach in 

other markets, with near term targets being Ghana and Côte d'Ivoire.

Lastly, in the area of institutional development, we have continued to make progress with our membership 

drive, with near term targets being Cape Verde, Cameroon, Chad, Côte d'Ivoire, Kenya, Rwanda, Senegal, 

Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia. Our strategy remains to leverage off executed and potential mandates as 

confirmation of our commitment to infrastructure development in the respective countries. We hope to 

have early successes with Cape Verde (Cabeolica), Côte d'Ivoire (Société Ivoirienne de Raffinage), and 

Zambia (PTA Bank/Ministry of Finance and Planning). 

Our People

AFC's most important assets are its people. The Corporation's financial performance is the result of many 

years of hard work and commitment by its staff to whom we all owe a debt of gratitude. The diversity of the 

professional staff has demonstrated the Corporation's commitment to the African continent and its standing 

as a premier financial institution. The Corporation has been able to leverage the expertise of its 

professionals in originating and executing mandates. 

At year-end of 2011, the Corporation had a staff strength of 60 consisting of a balanced mix of investment 

and control and support personnel. With the increasing portfolio and new mandates won, we expect this 

number to increase in line with budgetary allocations. In addition, the Corporation is embarking on a 

number of initiatives aimed at enhancing the welfare of its staff. An example is the approval of the Staff 

Pension Scheme by the Board. 
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Corporate Governance

AFC maintained its high standards of strong corporate governance in 2011. All board committees met 

regularly, allowing for adequate information flow and the active participation of board members in the 

affairs of the Corporation. The Board of Directors, the Board Nomination and Governance Committee 

and the Board Risk and Investment Committee held four meetings, while the Audit and Compliance 

Committee met three times.

The Corporation continues to seek ways of enhancing its corporate governance framework as it strives for 

higher levels of excellence in achieving its objectives. 

Financial Performance

The Corporation completed the 2011 financial year with an improved financial performance. The financial 

statements were prepared under the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) framework which 

was also the basis of the Corporation's prior financial reports. The Corporation's auditors, Price 

Waterhouse Coopers rendered a clean audit report. 

In 2011, the Corporation recorded a 61% growth in operating income over 2010, with administrative 

expenses growing by 27% compared to the 2010 financial year. With no impairment charges, the 

Corporation registered a profit of US$ 34.75m, which is an increase of 219% over the prior year.  With a 

total asset base of US$1.26bn and shareholder's equity of $1.17bn, the Return on Assets and Return on 

Equity were 2.76% and 2.97%, respectively.  

While the improvement in financial performance over the prior year is commendable, the Corporation 

continues to believe that there is room for further improvement. To this end, the 2012 business plan is 

based on continuing to invest in quality assets, improving AFC's operational performance and effective cost 

optimization. 

Payment of Dividends: In line with the improved performance of the Corporation in 2011, the directors 

have recommended a cash dividend of 1.375 cents per share (US$15.0m in aggregate) for payment to all 

shareholders, subject to shareholder approval. This represents a pay-out of 44% of AFC's profit and is in 

line with the dividend policy. 

Strategic Outlook - Looking Ahead to 2012

In 2009, AFC invested significant effort in developing internal risk management, investment analysis and 

monitoring processes to ensure adequate capacity to appraise and structure transactions in ways that best 

protect and create value for the Corporation. In 2010, we began to expand our origination efforts 

significantly with the aim of achieving an increase in the throughput of deals through the system. During 

2011, our strategic focus was on closing well- structured transactions in a timely and profitable manner, 

while stepping-up our origination efforts and building on the credibility we had established in the market. 

Our objective was to deliver solid financial results in the first year of our new 5-year business plan, setting a 

strong foundation for our vision of becoming the leading infrastructure focused African financial institution 

by 2015. 
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In 2012, AFC will seek to enhance its level of efficiency in transaction execution, building on the lessons 

and successes of the last three years.  We expect our origination efforts to continue to grow, building on the 

transaction successes of the last few years. This approach is already yielding results, and the focus will be 

on ensuring higher quality execution, faster transaction throughput, while maintaining a strong risk culture, 

in order to ensure sustainable financial and operational success on all projects. Strong emphasis will also 

be placed on realising value from existing portfolio investments and projects, but caution will be exercised 

in the area of new asset creation, given the uncertainties in global market conditions and the follow-on 

impacts on African economies. 

In the area of institutional development, there will be a continued focus on expanding country membership, 

and developing a high quality workforce for the future. Efforts will also be stepped-up in the area of 

delivering tangible financial returns to shareholders in the form of dividends and capital appreciation, 

while staying focused on our mandate of contributing to the long-term infrastructure and industrial 

development of Africa.

In order to achieve the budget for 2012, the Corporation has earmarked a number of strategic initiatives 

some of which are highlighted below: 

a. Funding Program: AFC continues to make progress towards the ultimate goal of sourcing long-term 

debt capital for its operations. The long-term strategy remains to obtain the highest possible credit 

rating at the earliest possible time, and raise financing from African and international public debt 

markets. AFC has obtained credit facilities from international banking groups, including a US$40.0m 

trade finance line from Standard Chartered Bank, and a US$50.0m bilateral loan from Standard 

Bank London. 

In February 2012, the Board of the African Development Bank approved a US$200.0m 10-year line 

of credit to the Corporation, to support long term infrastructure lending. This long-term facility is an 

important milestone in the evolution of the Corporation into an independent international institution 

accessing institutional funding sources to meet its long-term growth objectives. In addition, the 

extensive due-diligence process undertaken by the AfDB provided an opportunity for external 

validation of the almost three years of institutional development work undertaken by management 

towards establishing AFC as a stable, well governed organization. Following this milestone, AFC will 

be better positioned to access other DFI sources of funding as well as commercial market sources. 

Finally, from a business development support perspective, access to lower-cost debt funding is 

opening up a new tier of financing opportunities previously unavailable to the Corporation given the 

higher costs of its all-equity funded capital structure. 

b. Credit Rating: AFC has early in 2012 initiated its inaugural ratings process, with management 

presentations and detailed information provided to GCR of South Africa and Agusto & Co of Nigeria, 

with a view to obtaining national (Nigeria) rating for the Corporation. This is in line with the AFC 

strategic plan of securing a Nigeria rating, which opens up the possibility of working with Institutional 

investors such as pension funds, accessing the domestic inter-bank market, as a precursor to seeking 

an international credit rating.  
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Conclusion

The Global economic outlook remains muted by heightened financial market and sovereign solvency risks. 

Many African countries continue to manage the combination of strong economic growth and elevated 

political risks. Despite these challenges, resolving the infrastructure deficit facing Africa creates the unique 

opportunities for our Corporation. In accessing these unique value propositions, we will engage policy 

makers in our host communities in developing policies aimed at encouraging investment flows to the 

region in order to achieve the developmental impact so urgently required. Our activities will continue to 

foster intra-Africa investment flows, further endearing our commitment to developing Africa. 

As we strive to accomplish the objectives of the Corporation, we will continue to rely on the support of all 

stakeholders especially our shareholders who have been patient and encouraging during our formative 

years. By working together, we can achieve a strong, stable and prosperous Corporation, as envisioned by 

our founding investors.

I thank you all for your continued support for the Africa Finance Corporation.

Adebayo Ogunlesi

Chairman
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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income 6 45,368 29,425

Interest expense 6 (1,246) -

Dividend Income 7 961 -

Fees and commission income 8 11,862 5,903

Operating income 56,945 35,328

Administrative expenses 9 (22,196) (17,454)

Impairment charges 10 - (6,967)

Profit for the year 34,749 10,907

Total comprehensive income for the year 34,749 10,907

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

-basic 12 3.19 1.00

-diluted 12 3.19 1.00

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of comprehensive income

Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income 6 45,368 29,425

Interest expense 6 (1,246) -

Dividend Income 7 961 -

Fees and commission income 8 11,862 5,903

Operating income 56,945 35,328

Administrative expenses 9 (22,196) (17,454)

Impairment charges 10 - (6,967)

Profit for the year 34,749 10,907

Total comprehensive income for the year 34,749 10,907

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

-basic 12 3.19 1.00

-diluted 12 3.19 1.00

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note* As at As at

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with central and 

commercial banks 13 12,769 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 14 587,867 756,681

Loans and advances to other customers 15 352,557 100,529

Investment securities 16 295,061 115,281

Other assets 17 5,215 3,960

Property and equipment 18 1,737 2,574

Intangible assets 19 567 815

Total assets 1,255,773 1,136,713

LIABILITIES:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 20 7,740 3,353

Borrowings 21 80,126 -

Total liabilities 87,866 3,353

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation's 

equity holders

Share capital 24 1,089,117 1,089,319

Retained earnings 25 78,790 44,041

Total equity 1,167,907 1,133,360

Total liabilities and equity 1,255,773 1,136,713

Contingent liabilities and commitments 22 69,555 121,057

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
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Share capital Retained earnings Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

As at 01 January 2010 1,089,319 33,134 1,122,453

Net profit and total comprehensive income - 10,907 10,907

As at 31 December 2010 1,089,319 44,041 1,133,360

As at 1 January 2011 1,089,319 44,041 1,133,360

Shares re-purchased during the year (202) - (202)

Net profit and total comprehensive income - 34,749 34,749

As at 31 December 2011 1,089,117 78,790 1,167,907

Statement of Changes in Equity
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Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 39,306 38,149

Interest expense (719) -

Fee and commission receipts 12,815 5,685

Dividend receipts 961 -

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (17,464) (17,714)

Other assets (835) 2,381

Deposits with central and other commercial banks 249 471,687

Loans and advances to banks (12,500) 66,350

Loans and advances to customers (245,984) (89,362)

Other liabilities (141) 709

Net cash from operating activities (224,312) 477,885

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities 16 (189,196) (30,815)

Investment awaiting capitalisation - 84

Disposal of investment securities 6,956 -

Disposal of property and equipment 74 -

Purchase of property and equipment 18 (688) (417)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 19 (138) (801)

Net cash from investment activities (182,992) (31,949)

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings 79,264 -

Re-purchase of shares (210) -

Net cash from financing activities 79,054 -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (328,250) 445,936

Cash at the beginning of the year 899,358 453,423

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 27 571,108 899,358

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
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FC is a supranational financial organisation established in May 

2007 as an African-led financial institution with the mission to 

improve African economies by proactively acquiring, financing A
and managing infrastructure, industrial and financial assets.

The Corporation's authorized capital is US$2.0 billion and has over US$1.0 billion of paid-up capital from 

private and public African institutions.

AFC is committed to strong corporate governance. It strengthened corporate governance practices in 

2011. The Board of Directors met regularly on a quarterly basis in the course of the year.

Board Composition

The AFC Board of Directors, subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, has responsibility for the general 

conduct of the business of the Corporation. It exercises transparent independent judgment and acts in the 

best interests of the Corporation. As at 31 December, 2011, the Board comprised 14 directors, made up of 

11 non-executive directors and three executive directors.

Annual General Meeting

Subject to the provisions of the AFC Charter, an Annual General Meeting will be held in June 2012.

Results and Dividends

The Corporation made a profit for the year ended 31 December 2011 of US$ 34.7 million. The strong 

performance was attributable to significant growth in the Corporation's investment portfolio and in deal 

origination throughput during the year. The directors recommended the payment of dividends in 2012.

AFRICA
FINANCE
CORPORATION
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Environmental and Social Risk  

The Corporation's Board Risk and Investment Committee has approved an Environmental and Social Risk 

Management Policy, for implementation by the Corporation's Executive Committee, the purpose of which is 

to ensure that the Corporation carries out its lending, investment and advisory services to its clients and 

counter-parties in a manner that is environmentally sound and ensures sustainable development. In the 

event that impact on the environment is unavoidable, or the successful conclusion of projects will affect 

local communities through displacement or other significant impact, the Corporation will ensure that such 

impact is reduced, mitigated or that appropriate compensation is provided. 

In particular, the Corporation is committed to ensuring that the costs of economic development do not fall 

disproportionately on those least able to bear those costs, that the environment is not degraded in the 

process, and that natural resources are managed efficiently and in a sustainable manner. The Corporation 

believes that regular engagement with local communities about matters that directly affect them plays an 

important role in avoiding or reducing harm to people and the environment. Thus, the Corporation is 

committed to ensuring through its environmental and social assessment and monitoring process that the 

projects that it finances, or the investments that it makes, are:

Socially and environmentally sustainable.

Respectful of the rights of affected communities.

Structured and operated in compliance with the relevant regulatory requirements and in line with best 

international practice.

The Corporation recognizes that the inability or unwillingness to identify and manage environmental and 

social risks represents a serious threat to AFC's reputation and its business. Thus, adherence to the 

Corporation's Environmental and Social Risk Management Policy represents a fundamental objective for 

the AFC in order to minimize reputation risk and the risk of damage to the Corporation's business. 

Adherence also provides significant benefits to the Corporation, its clients and all stakeholders.  

In the case of project financing, the required standards are the Equator Principles. However, AFC's 

commitment to promote environmental and social sustainability is not limited to project financing but also 

to its other businesses, namely equity investments, mezzanine financing or quasi-equity investments, project 

development financing,  corporate finance and short term loans and trade finance. 

Management Policy
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Economic and Market Review

cross the globe, major economies and financial markets showed some resilience in sustaining the 

economic recovery albeit at a slow pace. Growth was mixed with the Euro Zone's sovereign debt Acrisis hampering the pace of global growth, while the US and other emerging markets remained on 

the growth trajectory. Overall, the US economy grew by 1.8% in 2011 with indicators showing rising 

consumer confidence, improvements in the labour market, manufacturing and housing starts. The 

expansionary fiscal policy such as implementing and further extending a payroll tax cut helped preserve 

household income. Downside risks to the economy remains the possibility of a contagion from Europe's 

sovereign debt crisis, higher inflation stemming from high oil prices and rising fiscal deficit, now estimated at 

over $1.3trillion. 

 

Conversely, the austerity measures embarked upon in the Euro Zone plunged some of the peripheral states 

into recession, notably Greece, Spain and Portugal. The resentment also orchestrated changes in the 

Governments of Greece, Italy, Ireland, Portugal, and Spain, coupled with increased volatility across 

financial markets, continued to knock down market confidence. The core economies of Germany and 

France and the EU neophytes such as Poland, Ukraine, Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania helped to achieve a 

balanced growth for the region, which grew at 1.5% in 2011. The slow growth in the EU zone and moderate 

recovery in the US began to impact emerging market growth in 2011. India for example recorded the lowest 

growth for the first time in two years as manufacturing and mining industries suffered. The economy grew by 

7.1% below the 8.98% recorded in 2010. A swing of interest rate increases aimed at reigning inflation put a 

hold on industrial output. Poor infrastructure, corruption scandals and weak global economy have 

exacerbated the trend. Also the Chinese economy showed a downward momentum as the export led 

strategy of growth experienced some difficulties amidst weaker global demand and higher commodity 

prices. The Chinese economy grew by 9.2% as against 10.3% recorded in 2010. The slow growth 

economies such as US, EU and Japan forced these governments to develop policies aimed at protecting 

domestic industries in order to create jobs. The ripple effect of reduced demand for Chinese exports and 

rising inflation curtailed China's ability to support the domestic economy. 

On the other hand, many African countries showed positive growth momentum, with GDP growth rates 

averaging 4.4% in 2011. This was buoyed by higher commodity prices, strong macroeconomic policies 

and relatively stable governments despite the barrage of elections on the continent amidst the Arab Spring. 

Within AFC's current investment geography - Ghana, Nigeria, Côte d Ivoire, South Africa, Zambia, Cape 

Verde, Ethiopia, Kenya and Angola, GDP growth rates averaged 5.8%, with Ghana and Nigeria showing 

the strongest growth at 13.5% and 6.9% respectively. In curbing inflationary pressures, various governments 

implemented contractionary monetary policy frameworks with higher interest rates emerging. This in 

addition to adoption of more liberal foreign exchange policies encouraged investment flows despite the 

crisis in global markets. The rate of FDI flows declined although at a slower rate when compared to 2009 

and 2010. The continent recorded a total of US$ 54.4m in 2011 representing 3.6% share of global FDI 

flows. However, a notable trend has been increased activity within the continent, with intra-FDI flows 

encouraging regional integration. Notably, South Africa was the most vital source of intra-African FDI and 

the second most important developing country investor in Africa after China.

Powering Infrastructure Investment

REVIEW 2011

Annual Report & Financial Statements

for the Year Ended 31 December, 2011
18



Société Ivoirienne de Raffinege (SIR)

Together with other African financial institutions, AFC completed 

a US$320 million syndicated trade finance facility to finance the 

importation, processing and refining of crude oil by Societe 

Ivoirienne de Raffinage (SIR) of Côte d'Ivoire, Sub-Saharan 

Africa's largest exporter of refined oil products. AFC's participation 

of US$100m in the facility, was completed in partnership with two 

other financial institutions: the African Export-Import Bank 

(Afreximbank), and Banque Internationale pour l' Afrique 

Occidentale, Côte d'Ivoire (BIAO-CI). The transaction is AFC's 

first in Côte d' Ivoire, partnering with African lenders to provide 

much needed financial support to the Ivorian economy.

SIR was founded in 1962 by the government of Côte d'Ivoire in 

partnership with several companies and is backed by a strong 

shareholding group comprising: Total CI, State Oil Company of 

Angola (Sonangol), Government of Burkina Faso, Elf Aquitaine, and Sahara Energy Nigeria. SIR is 

responsible for refining of crude oil and the sale of refined products to the Ivorian market and to other West 

African countries  including; Mali, Burkina Faso, and Nigeria. 

The facility was used to refinance existing debts and provide working capital for future deliveries of crude oil 

cargoes from its major suppliers; Trafigura, Vitol, Glencore and Total International. The Facility is secured by 

irrevocable domiciliation of receivables from the Oil marketing companies. 

The SIR syndicated trade finance facility is the first AFC transaction in Francophone Africa. The transaction 

enables AFC to broaden its network of financing partners, consolidate its credentials as a trade finance 

institution and provide a solid platform for development of other opportunities in the region.

PORTFOLIO
HIGHLIGHTS
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1. Taiwo Adeniji, Director & Head of Financial 

Institutions & Advisory [Team Director]

2. David Johnson, Vice President, Market Risk

3. Madibinet Cisse, Vice President & Senior Counsel

4. Franklin Edochie, Associate, Investment



Bakwena Toll Road

The Bakwena Highway is the third and most 

recent major toll road concession awarded by 

South African National Road Agency Limited 

(SANRAL) under a build, finance, operate and 

maintain contract. The highway consists of a 

95km section of the N1 running from Tshwane 

(Pretoria) northwards to the town of Bela-Bela 

(Warmbaths) and a 290km section of the N4 

running from Tshwane westwards to the 

Botswana border. The project is a combination 

of urban tolling in  the suburbs of Pretoria and long haul intercity tolling. The Bakwena Highway is a part of the 

Maputo Development Corridor which was established by the Southern Africa Development Community 

(SADC) to stimulate agriculture, manufacturing, mining and tourism in the sub region. It is expected to remain 

a key intermodal transport corridor covering roads, rail, and seaports.

AFC provided post completion acquisition financing in the Bakwena Platinum Corridor Concession 

(Bakwena) with a US$20 million minority equity investment in conjunction with financing partners; Macquaire 

Group, Old Mutual – South Africa, Kagiso Tiso Holdings (KTH) (a black economic empowerment fund) and 

the Public Investment Corporation of South Africa. The investment was made through a  vehicle, the South 

African Toll Road Company (SATRC). AFC acquired an ownership stake of 6.63% in SATRC and 5.48% in 

Bakwena. The Bakewna asset has returned a strong performance with an approximate 40% appreciation in 

the value as evidenced by the most recent valuation conducted by Ernst & Young in December 2011. There 

has additionally been significant developmental impact along the project corridor evidenced by considerable 

decrease in transportation cost and reduced travel times. Bakewna currently processes over 160,000 vehicles 

per day making it one of the most heavily used  toll roads in the continent. 

Oliver Tunde Andrews
Director & Chief Coverage

Officer

Amadou Wadda

Infrastructure

Senior Vice President

Kudzayi Hove

Head Equity Investment

Senior Vice President &
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Cabeolica

The award winning Cabeolica 26MW wind farm project made 

significant progress since the commencement of construction in 

early 2011. The project involved the installation of over 30 wind 

turbines on four islands, with an investment commitment of over 

¤8 million to the project. The wind farms on Santiago and Sao 

Vicente commenced commercial operations and were 

inaugurated by His Excellency The Prime Minister of Cape Verde, 

Dr. Jose Maria Neves in October, 2011. The remaining wind 

farms on the islands of SAL and Boa Vista also commenced 

commercial operations in Q1 and Q2 2012, respectively.  

Cabeolica and Electra - the national power utility of Cape Verde, 

collaborated to achieve impressive results e.g. high wind energy 

penetration rates of up to 40%.

As the first commercial Public Private Partnership (PPP) wind farm 

in Sub-Saharan Africa, Cabeolica has had a very positive impact 

on Cape Verde's economy. The development of this project has 

provided an economic, environmentally safe and sustainable 

source of renewable energy for economic development. It has 

also provided significant savings on imported and expensive 

fossil fuel and will access revenues under the Clean 

Development Mechanism initiative. The Cabeolica project has 

shown AFC's commitment to pioneering renewable energy 

investments across the continent and our ability to profitably 

harness local renewable energy resources in Cape Verde. 

Through the provision of 26MW, AFC, through Cabeolica, has successfully provided up to 25% of Cape 

Verde's energy requirement, in twelve months whilst seizing on the opportunity to expand AFC's 

geographical footprint and diversify its power portfolio. Additionally, the project has a direct fit with AFC's 

mandate to finance projects with high developmental impact, provision of sustainable energy, develop 

local capacity and  provide creditable investment returns.  AFC is already looking at similar opportunities 

across Africa to leverage on its successful Cabeolica experience, in markets as diverse as Kenya, Senegal 

and South Africa.

1. Oliver Tunde Andrews 
Director & Chief Coverage Officer

2. Batchi Baldeh, Senior Vice President Power

3. Kudzayi Hove, Senior Vice President &

Head Equity Investment

4. Madibinet Cisse, Vice President & Senior Counsel

5. Tariye Isoun, Vice President & Investment Officer

6. Kike Kasim, Associate Investment

[Team Director]
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Neconde

The Oil Mining Lease - OML 42 asset is located in the western 

Niger Delta region of Nigeria and is estimated to hold 

recoverable and contingent reserves in excess of 100 million 

barrels oil equivalent, primarily from five discovered fields. 

OML 42 recently recommenced production at over 16,000 

barrels per day.

In 2011, the Shell Joint Venture (Shell, Total and Agip) divested 

its 45% stake in OML 42 as part of its strategy to de-emphasize 

its operations in the Western Niger-Delta. Neconde Energy 

(Neconde) successfully acquired equity in the block. The cost of 

this acquisition was in excess of US$600 million, with Neconde 

shareholders contributing in the order of  US$450 million.

Neconde is a newly established exploration and production 

company formed by a consortium comprising three indigenous 

companies; Nestoil, The Yinka Folawiyo Group (Aries Limited), 

VP Global, and, two Polish institutions; Kulczyk Investments and 

Oil Ventures respectively. Neconde was established as a 

Nigerian upstream oil and gas company, focused on acquiring 

production and development assets across Africa. Neconde 

has rapidly developed human capacity with extensive 

international operating experience  to drive the growth of the 

indigenous business.

1.  

Deputy CEO & Chief Investment Officer

2. Osam Iyahen Vice President, Oil & Gas

3. Jerry Djangmah Vice President, Investment

4. Chinekwu Duru Associate Counsel

5. Franklin Edochie Associate, Investment

Solomon Asamoah, [Team Director]
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AFC together with Access Bank plc were the joint mandated lead arrangers for the US$150 million syndicated 

debt financing. The investment in Neconde falls squarely in AFC's oil and gas strategy, to support the growth 

of indigenous companies seeking to regionalise and capture more of the value of Africa's natural resources 

on the continent. Neconde's status as an indigenous Nigerian company offers a viable option through which 

the currently under-utilized reserves of the Niger Delta, could be brought back into production with potential 

economic and social benefits for the region and country at large. There are additionally, opportunities to 

utilize the associated gas produced not only for electricity supply to the region, but also for developmental and 

socio-economic growth.

The AFC / FMO Facility

AFC's project development division facilitates the provision of 

infrastructure by acting as a project sponsor and developer, 

mobilizing risk capital for project development, and 

implementing strategies to scale up the involvement of African 

capacity in the development and ownership of African assets. 

AFC has established a joint Project Development Facility to fund 

early-stage project development costs for AFC projects.

The facility is a partnership between AFC and Netherlands 

Development Finance Company. Financierings-Maatschappij 

voor Ontwikkelings laden N.V (FMO). The facility, which will be 

managed by AFC, will fund early stage equity investments in 

projects under development by AFC, FMO, AFC affiliates or 

associated developers. Typical early equity investments will 

include environmental assessments, commercial feasibility 

studies, engineering design, legal and relevant advisory activities.

AFC and FMO intend to commit an initial amount of US$7.5 

million each to the facility, which is expected to run for 7 years with a possible 2 year extension. The 

geographical focus of the facility is across sub-saharan Africa with the exception of South Africa. Targeted 

sectors in which early stage capital can be provided are: 

Power (Generation, Transmission and Distribution)

Transport Infrastructure (Roads, Ports, Airports, Ferries, Rail)

Oil and Gas - Midstream and Downstream Infrastructure (Pipelines and Processing networks, 

indigenization efforts, projects linked to power generation) 

Agribusiness infrastructure related (Water treatment, Cold chain and storage, fertilizer infrastructure)

 Social infrastructure (Housing, Hospitals and Education).

 

The AFC/FMO project development facility is an example of AFC's commitment to bridging the infrastructure 

investment gap on the African continent by developing bankable infrastructure projects with far reaching 

developmental impact.

1. Oliver Tunde Andrews [Team Director]

Director & Chief Coverage Officer

2. Amadou Wadda, Senior Vice President Infrastructure

3. Nana Eshun, Senior Vice President & Lead Counsel

4. Bowale Odumade, Senior Associate,

Origination & Coverage
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibility

he directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements for each year which give a 

true and fair view of the state of financial affairs of the Corporation at the end of the year and of its Tprofit or loss. The directors are also responsible for ensuring that the Corporation keeps proper 

accounting records that disclose, with reasonable accuracy, the financial position of the Corporation.  They 

are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Corporation.

The directors accept responsibility for the annual financial statements, which have been prepared using 

appropriate accounting policies supported by reasonable estimates, in conformity with International 

Financial Reporting Standards. The directors further accept responsibility for the maintenance of accounting 

records that may be relied upon in the preparation of the financial statements, as well as designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from any material misstatement.

Nothing has come to the attention of the directors to indicate that the Corporation will not remain a going 

concern for at least twelve months from the date of this statement.

Approval of Annual Financial Statements

The annual financial statements, presented on pages 25  to 70, were approved by the board of directors on 

19 March 2012 and were signed on its behalf by:

__________________ __________________

Chairman Chief Executive Officer
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REPORT OF THE AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE TO THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS AND GENERAL MEETING OF THE AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

n compliance with the provisions of Article 28 of the Charter of the Africa Finance Corporation and pursuant 

to the terms of the Audit and Compliance Committee statute concerning the establishment, membership, Ifunctions and powers of the Audit Committee of the Africa Finance Corporation, the Committee considered 

the audited financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011, at its meeting held on 24 February, 

2012.

In our opinion, the scope and planning of the audit for the year ended 31 December, 2011 were adequate.

The Committee reviewed and was satisfied with the auditor's findings. It also acknowledged that there were no 

findings which required specific actions from the Management.

After due consideration, the Committee accepted the report of the auditors to the effect that the financial 

statements were prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards and gave a true 

and fair view of the state of affairs of the Corporation's financial condition as at 31 December, 2011.

The committee took note of the auditors presentation that there were no significant open matters on the internal 

controls relevant to the preparation of the financial statements and that they had no special findings with respect 

to other matters on which auditing standards require that they report on. 

The Committee, therefore, recommended that the audited financial statements of the Corporation for the 

financial year ended 31 December, 2011 and the auditor's report thereon be approved by the Board and 

presented for consideration by shareholders at the general meeting.

The Committee accepted the provision made in the financial statements for the remuneration of the auditors 

and recommended that the Board accept the same. Furthermore, the audit and compliance committee 

recommended to the shareholders the reappointment of PriceWaterhouseCoopers as the Corporation's 

external auditors for the 2012 Financial Year.

________________________

Tunde Lemo, OFR

Chairman, Audit & Compliance Committee

Members of the Committee

Mr. Aigboje Aig-Imoukhede, CON;

Mr. Ebenezer Olufowose;

Mr. Robert Tung; Mr Aliyu Dikko
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REPORT OF THE INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

TO THE MEMBERS OF AFRICA FINANCE CORPORATION

Report on the financial statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Africa Finance Corporation which comprise 

the statement of financial position as of 31 December 2011, statement of comprehensive income, 

statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then ended and a summary of 

significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Directors' responsibility for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 

accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. This responsibility includes: designing, 

implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 

financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting 

and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in 

the circumstances.

Auditor's responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We 

conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those Standards require 

that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 

whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 

the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgement, including the 

assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. 

In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation 

and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 

internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 

the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 

presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of 

Africa Finance Corporation as of  31 December 2011, and of its financial performance and cash flows 

for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

Chartered Accountants 

Lagos, Nigeria March 2012

PricewaterhouseCooper Chartered Accountants, 25E Muri Okunola Street, Victoria Island Lagos, Nigeria.



Statement of Comprehensive Income

Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

Interest income 6 45,368 29,425

Interest expense 6 (1,246) -

Dividend Income 7 961 -

Fees and commission income 8 11,862 5,903

Operating income 56,945 35,328

Administrative expenses 9 (22,196) (17,454)

Impairment charges 10 - (6,967)

Profit for the year 34,749 10,907

Total comprehensive income for the year 34,749 10,907

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the

equity holders during the period (expressed in

United States cents per share)

-basic 12 3.19 1.00

-diluted 12 3.19 1.00

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Note* As at As at

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

ASSETS:

Cash and balances with central and 

commercial banks 13 12,769 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 14 587,867 756,681

Loans and advances to other customers 15 352,557 100,529

Investment securities 16 295,061 115,281

Other assets 17 5,215 3,960

Property and equipment 18 1,737 2,574

Intangible assets 19 567 815

Total assets 1,255,773 1,136,713

LIABILITIES:

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 20 7,740 3,353

Borrowings 21 80,126 -

Total liabilities 87,866 3,353

EQUITY

Capital and reserves attributable to the Corporation's 

equity holders

Share capital 24 1,089,117 1,089,319

Retained earnings 25 78,790 44,041

Total equity 1,167,907 1,133,360

Total liabilities and equity 1,255,773 1,136,713

Contingent liabilities and commitments 22 69,555 121,057

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position
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Statement of Changes in Equity

Share capital Retained earnings Total

US$’000 US$’000 US$’000

As at 01 January 2010 1,089,319 33,134 1,122,453

Net profit and total comprehensive income - 10,907 10,907

As at 31 December 2010 1,089,319 44,041 1,133,360

As at 1 January 2011 1,089,319 44,041 1,133,360

Shares re-purchased during the year (202) - (202)

Net profit and total comprehensive income - 34,749 34,749

As at 31 December 2011 1,089,117 78,790 1,167,907
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Note* Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

US$’000 US$’000

Cash flows from operating activities

Interest and similar income received 39,306 38,149

Interest expense (719) -

Fee and commission receipts 12,815 5,685

Dividend receipts 961 -

Cash payments to employees and suppliers (17,464) (17,714)

Other assets (835) 2,381

Deposits with central and other commercial banks 249 471,687

Loans and advances to banks (12,500) 66,350

Loans and advances to customers (245,984) (89,362)

Other liabilities (141) 709

Net cash from operating activities (224,312) 477,885

Cash flows from investing activities

Purchase of investment securities 16 (189,196) (30,815)

Investment awaiting capitalisation - 84

Disposal of investment securities 6,956 -

Disposal of property and equipment 74 -

Purchase of property and equipment 18 (688) (417)

Purchase of software/Intangibles 19 (138) (801)

Net cash from investment activities (182,992) (31,949)

Cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings 79,264 -

Re-purchase of shares (210) -

Net cash from financing activities 79,054 -

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (328,250) 445,936

Cash at the beginning of the year 899,358 453,423

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 27 571,108 899,358

*The accompanying notes 1-29 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Cash Flows
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1. General information

Africa Finance Corporation (AFC or the Corporation) is an international organisation established by 

an international agreement between independent sovereign states.

AFC was created by two constitutive legal instruments: (i) the Agreement for the Establishment of the 

Africa Finance Corporation (the AFC Agreement) and (ii) the Charter of the Africa Finance Corporation 

(the AFC Charter). AFC is headquartered in the Federal Republic of Nigeria, based on the 

Headquarters Agreement dated 28 May 2007 between the Federal Republic of Nigeria and the Africa 

Finance Corporation. AFC's headquarters is located at 3a Osborne Road, Ikoyi, Lagos State, Nigeria.

The Corporation's shareholders comprise African States, corporate entities such as major commercial 

banks and financial institutions and other private sector commercial entities. The current Member 

States are Nigeria, Ghana, Sierra Leone, Guinea Bissau, The Gambia, Liberia and Guinea Conakry.  

The Ghanaian parliament also approved a resolution to subscribe for US$ 50million of the 

Corporation's shares. Other potential member States are going through the process of achieving 

membership of the Corporation in accordance with their respective internal procedures. Thirty-three 

(33) shareholders (including the Central Bank of Nigeria with an ownership status of 42.5%) have thus 

far subscribed and paid for shares in AFC in accordance with the terms of the AFC Charter.

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure - power, heavy industry, natural 

resources and transport projects in Africa in addition to providing advisory, project development and 

other services related thereto.

The Corporation commenced operations on 1 November 2007 after certain conditions prescribed in 

its constitutive instruments were fulfilled.

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 were authorised and approved for 

issue by the Board of Directors on 19 March 2012. Neither the Corporation's owners nor others have 

the power to amend the financial statements after issue.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

The Principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 

below.  These policies have been consistently applied, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of presentation

The Corporation's financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board 

(IASB).  The financial statements are presented in United States Dollars (US$) rounded to the 

nearest thousand. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost 

convention, except for available-for-sale financial assets, financial assets and financial liabilities 

held at fair value through profit or loss, which have been measured at fair value.

The financial statements comprise the statement of comprehensive income, the statement of 

financial position, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of cash flows and explanatory 

notes.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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The statement of cash flows shows the change in cash and cash equivalents during the year from 

operating, financing and investing activities.  Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid 

investments.  Note 27 shows which items of the statement of financial position are included in 

cash and cash equivalents.

The cash flow from operating activities is determined using the direct method. The Corporation's 

assignment of cash flows to operating, financing and investing categories depends on the 

Corporation's business model (management approach).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 

accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgement in applying the 

Corporation's accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the 

financial statements for the period under consideration. The executive management believes that 

the underlying assumptions are appropriate and that the Corporation's financial statements 

therefore present the financial position and results fairly.

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures

(a) New and amended standards adopted by the Corporation

IAS 1: Presentation of financial statements. Presentation of financial statements is part of the 

2010 Annual Improvements and clarifies that an entity shall present an analysis of other 

comprehensive income for each component of equity, either in the statement of changes in equity 

or in the notes to the financial statements. The application of the amendment does not have an 

impact on the Corporation's financial statements.

IAS 24: Related party disclosure. The amendment clarifies and simplifies the definition of a 

related party and removes the requirement for government-related entities to disclose details of all 

transactions with the government and other government-related entities. The amended definition 

means that some entities will be required to make additional disclosures, e.g., an entity that is 

controlled by an individual that is part of the key management personnel of another entity is now 

required to disclose transactions with that second entity. Related party disclosures by the 

Corporation have increased following adoption of this amendment. 

IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures. The amendment is part of the 2010 Annual 

Improvements and emphasises the interaction between quantitative and qualitative disclosures 

about the nature and extent of risks associated with financial instruments. The amendments have 

also removed the requirement to disclose the following;

Standards 

/interpretations 

Title Applicable for 

Financial years 

beginning on/after

IAS 1

IAS 24

IFRS 7

Presentation of financial statements

Related party disclosures

Financial Instruments: Disclosures

1 January 2011

1 January 2011

1 January 2011
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Maximum exposure to credit risk if the carrying amount best represents the maximum 

exposure to credit risk;

Fair value of collateral; and

Renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due but not impaired.

The application of the above amendment simplified financial risk disclosures made by the 

Corporation. Other amendments and interpretations to standards became mandatory for the 

year beginning 1 January 2011 but had no significant effect on the Corporation's financial 

statements.

(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective which have not 

been adopted early by the Corporation

Numerous new standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards have been 

issued but are not yet effective. Below is a list of new standards that are likely to be relevant to the 

Corporation. However, the directors are yet to assess the impact on the Corporation's operations.

IAS 1: Presentation of financial statements.The amendment changes the disclosure of items 

presented in other comprehensive income (OCI) in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Entities will be required to separate items presented in other comprehensive income into two 

groups, based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in the future. Items that will 

not be recycled will be presented separately from items that may be recycled in the future. Entities 

that choose to present OCI items before tax will be required to show the amount of tax related to 

the two groups separately. 

The title used by IAS 1 for the statement of comprehensive income has changed to 'statement of 

profit or loss and other comprehensive income', though IAS 1 still permits entities to use other 

titles.

IAS 19: Employee benefits. The amendment makes significant changes to the recognition and 

measurement of defined benefit pension expense and termination benefits and to the disclosures 

for all employee benefits. Key features are as follows:

Actuarial gains and losses are renamed 'remeasurements' and can only be recognised in 'other 

comprehensive income' without any recycling through profit or loss in subsequent periods.

Past service costs will be recognised in the period of a plan amendment and curtailment occurs 

only when  an entity reduces significantly the number of employees.

Standards 

/interpretations 

Title Applicable for 

Financial years 

beginning on/after

IAS 1

IAS 19

IFRS 9

IFRS 13

Presentation of financial statements

Employee benefits

Financial instruments

Fair value measurment

1 July 2012

1 January 2013

1 January 2015

1 January 2013
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The amendment clarifies the definition of termination benefits. Any benefit that has a future service 

obligation is not a termination benefit. 

Annual benefit expense for a funded benefit plan will include net interest expense or income, 

calculated by applying the discount rate to the net defined benefit asset or liability.

IFRS 9: Financial instruments part 1: Classification and measurement and part 2: Financial 

liabilities and Derecognition of financial instruments

IFRS 9: Part 1 was issued in November 2009 and replaces those parts of IAS 39 relating to the 

classification and measurement of financial assets. Key features are as follows:

(a) Financial assets are required to be classified into two measurement categories: those to be 

measured subsequently at fair value, and those to be measured subsequently at amortised 

cost. The decision is to be made at initial recognition. The classification depends on the 

entity's business model for managing its financial instruments and the contractual cash flow 

characteristics of the instrument.

(b) An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt instrument and 

both the objective of the entity's business model is to hold the asset to collect the contractual 

cash flows, and the asset's contractual cash flows represent only payments of principal and 

interest (that is, it has only 'basic loan features'). All other debt instruments are to be 

measured at fair value through profit or loss.

(c) All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity instruments that 

are held for trading will be measured at fair value through profit or loss. For all other equity 

investments, an irrevocable election can be made at initial recognition, to recognise 

unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other comprehensive income 

rather than profit or loss. There is to be no recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or 

loss. This election may be made on an instrument-by-instrument basis. Dividends are to be 

presented in profit or loss, as long as they represent a return on investment.

(d) While adoption of IFRS 9 is mandatory from 1 January 2015 earlier adoption is permitted. 

The Corporation is considering the implications of the Standard, the impact on the Corporation 

and the timing of its adoption by the Corporation.

IFRS 9: Part 2 was issued in October 2010 and includes guidance on financial liabilities and 

derecognition of financial instruments.  The accounting and presentation of financial liabilities 

and for derecognising financial instruments has been relocated from IAS 39, Financial 

instruments: Recognition and Measurement, without change except for financial liabilities that are 

designated at fair value through profit or loss.

Under the new standard, entities with financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

recognise changes in the liability's credit risk directly in other comprehensive income.  There is no 

subsequent recycling of the amounts in other comprehensive income to profit or loss, but 

accumulated gains or losses may be transferred within equity.
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IFRS 13: Fair value measurement. The standard explains how to measure fair value and aims to 

enhance fair value disclosures; it does not say when to measure fair value or require additional 

fair value measurements. A fair value measurement assumes that the transaction to sell the asset 

or transfer the liability takes place in the principal market for the asset or liability or, in the absence 

of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.

The principal market is the market with the greatest volume and level of activity for the asset or 

liability that can be accessed by the entity. The guidance includes enhanced disclosure 

requirements that could result in significantly more disclosures and work for the Corporation. The 

requirements are similar to IFRS 7, 'Financial instruments: Disclosures' but apply to all assets and 

liabilities measured at fair value, not just financial ones.

(c) Early adoption of standards

The Corporation did not early-adopt new or amended standards in 2011.

2.2 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the Corporation's financial statements are measured in its functional currency 

(US Dollars) and figures are stated in thousands of dollars.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 

prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 

settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary 

assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the income statement.

Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the closing rate as at the 

reporting date. If several exchange rates are available, the forward rate is used at which the future 

cash flows represented by the transaction or balance could have been settled if those cash flows 

had occurred. Non-monetary items measured at historical cost denominated in a foreign 

currency are translated with the exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary 

items in a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the exchange rates 

at the date when the fair value was determined.

Changes in the fair value of monetary securities denominated in foreign currency classified as 

available for sale are analysed between translation differences resulting from changes in the 

amortised cost of the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security. Translation 

differences related to changes in the amortised cost are recognised in profit or loss, and other 

changes in the carrying amount are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Translation differences on non-monetary items, such as equities held at fair value through profit or 

loss are reported as part of the fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary 

items, such as equities classified as available-for-sale financial assets, are included in the other 

comprehensive income.
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2.3 Financial assets and liabilities

All financial assets and liabilities – which include derivative financial instruments – have to be 

recognised in the statement of financial position and measured in accordance with their assigned 

category.

2.3.1 Financial Assets

The Corporation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss; loans and receivables; held-to-maturity investments; and available-

for-sale financial assets. Management determines the classification at initial recognition. The 

Corporation uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when recording financial asset 

transactions.

(a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated at 

fair value through profit or loss at inception.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 

purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 

pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they 

are designated and effective as hedging instruments.  All derivatives are carried as assets when 

fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative. Financial assets held for trading 

consist of debt instruments, including money-market paper, traded corporate and corporation 

loans, and equity instruments, as well as financial assets with embedded derivatives. They are 

recognised in the statement of financial position as 'Financial assets held for trading'.

The Corporation designates certain financial assets upon initial recognition at fair value through 

profit or loss (fair value option). This designation cannot subsequently be changed and can only 

be applied when the following conditions are met:

Ÿ the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting mismatch that 

would otherwise arise; or

Ÿ the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is risk managed and 

reported to senior management on a fair value basis; or

Ÿ the financial assets consist of debt host and an embedded derivative that must be separated. 

Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair value; transaction 

costs are taken directly to profit or loss. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are 

included directly in profit or loss and are reported as 'Net gains/ (losses) on financial instruments 

classified as held for trading'. Interest income and expense and dividend income and expenses on 

financial assets held for trading are included in 'Net interest income' or 'Dividend income', 

respectively. Fair value changes relating to financial assets designated at fair value through profit 

or loss are recognised in 'Net gains on financial instruments designated at fair value through profit 

or loss'. There are no financial instruments classified as held for trading as at 31 December 2011.
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(b) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 

that are not quoted in an active market, other than: 

(i) Those that the Corporation intends to sell immediately or in the short term, which are 

classified as held for trading, and those that the Corporation upon initial recognition 

designates as at fair value through profit or loss. 

(ii) Those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates as available for sale; 

or

(iii) Those for which the Corporation may not recover substantially all of its initial investment, 

other than because of credit deterioration.

Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value – which is the cash consideration to 

originate or purchase the loan including any transaction costs – and measured subsequently at 

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

(c) Held-to maturity

Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payments and fixed maturities that the Corporation's management has the positive intention and 

ability to hold to maturity, other than:

(i) Those that the Corporation upon initial recognition designates as at fair value through profit 

or loss; 

(ii) Those that the Corporation designates as available for sale; and

(iii) Those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.

These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental transaction costs and 

measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the income statement and reported as 

'interest and similar income'. In the case of an impairment, the impairment loss is reported as a 

deduction from the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the income statement as 

'net gains/ (losses) on investment. Held-to-maturity investments are corporate and sovereign 

bonds. 

(d) Available for Sale

Available-for-sale investments are those intended to be held for an indefinite period of time, 

which may be sold in response to needs for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or 

equity prices or that are not classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or 

financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

2.3.2 Financial Liabilities

The Corporation's holding in financial liabilities represents mainly borrowings and other liabilities. 

Such financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at 
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amortised cost.

(a) Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

This category comprises two sub-categories: financial liabilities classified as held for trading and 

financial liabilities designated by the Corporation at fair value through profit or loss upon initial 

recognition.

A financial liability is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred principally for the 

purpose of selling or repurchasing it in the near term or if it is part of a portfolio of identified 

financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual 

pattern of short-term profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless they 

are designated and effective as hedging instruments. Financial liabilities held for trading also 

include obligations to deliver financial assets borrowed by a short seller. Those financial 

instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position as 'Financial liabilites held for 

trading'.

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial liabilities classified held for trading 

are included in the income statement and are reported as 'Net gains/(losses) on financial 

instruments classified as held for trading'. Interest expenses on financial liabilities held for trading 

are included in 'Net interest income'.

The Corporation designated certain debt securities upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss (fair value option); this designation cannot be changed subsequently. 

There are no financial liability classified as held for trading or specifically designated at fair value 

through profit and loss  as at 31 December 2011.

(b) Other liabilities measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not classified  at fair value through profit or loss fall into this category 

and are measured at amortised cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost are deposits 

from banks or customers, debt securities in issue for which the fair value option is not applied, 

convertible bonds and subordinated debt.

2.3.3 Determination of fair value

For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair value of financial 

assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market prices or dealer price quotations. This 

includes listed equity securities and quoted debt instruments on major exchanges and broker 

quotes from Bloomberg and Reuters. 

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and 

regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service or regulatory 

agency, and those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an 

arm's length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive. 

Indicators that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer spread or significant increase 

in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent transactions.
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For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation techniques. In these 

techniques, fair values are estimated from observable data in respect of similar financial 

instruments, using models to estimate the present value of expected future cash flows or other 

valuation techniques, using inputs (for example, LIBOR yield curve, foreign exchange  rates, 

volatilities and counterparty spreads) existing at the dates of the statement of financial position

The Corporation, in circumstances whereby this is applicable, uses widely recognised valuation 

models for determining fair values of non-standardised financial instruments of lower complexity.  

Inputs into models are generally market-observable for these financial instruments.

For more complex instruments, the Corporation uses internally developed models, which are 

usually based on valuation methods and techniques generally recognised as standard within the 

industry. Valuation models are used primarily to value derivatives transacted in the over-the-

counter market, unlisted debt securities (including those with embedded derivatives), unlisted 

equity and other debt instruments for which markets were or have become illiquid. Some of the 

inputs to these models may not be market observable and are therefore estimated based on 

assumptions. 

The output of a model is always an estimate or approximation of a value that cannot be 

determined with certainty, and valuation techniques employed may not fully reflect all factors 

relevant to the positions the Corporation holds. Valuations are therefore adjusted, where 

appropriate, to allow for additional factors including model risks, liquidity risk and counterparty 

credit risk. Based on the established fair value model governance policies, and related controls 

and procedures applied, management believes that these valuation adjustments are necessary 

and appropriate to fairly state the values of financial instruments carried at fair value in the 

statement of financial position. Price data and parameters used in the measurement procedures 

applied are generally reviewed carefully and adjusted, if necessary – particularly in view of current 

market developments.

In cases when the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the 

instruments are carried at cost less impairment. 

The fair values of contingent liabilities and irrevocable loan commitments correspond to their 

carrying amounts.

2.4 Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the cash flows from these 

assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been transferred and substantially all the risks and 

rewards of ownership of the assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and 

rewards have not been transferred, the Corporation tests control to ensure that continuing 

involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent derecognition). 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise extinguished.

2.5 Reclassification of financial assets

The Corporation may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial asset held for trading out of 

the held-for-trading category if the financial asset is no longer held for the purpose of selling it in 
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the near-term. Financial assets other than loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified 

out of the held for trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is 

unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near-term. In addition, the Corporation may choose to 

reclassify financial assets that would meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held-

for-trading or available-for-sale categories if the Corporation has the intention and ability to hold 

these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the date of reclassification. 

Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new 

cost or amortised cost as applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded 

before reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective interest rates for financial assets 

reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity categories are determined at the 

reclassification date. Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates 

prospectively. On reclassification of a financial asset out of the 'at fair value through profit or loss' 

category, all embedded derivatives are re-assessed and, if necessary, separately accounted for. 

2.6 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when 

there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 

settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

2.7  Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments, except for those 

classified as held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss, are recognised 

within 'interest income' and 'interest expense' in the income statement using the effective interest 

method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 

financial liability and of allocating the interest income or interest expense over the relevant period. 

The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or 

receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter 

period to the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. The calculation 

includes all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the 

effective interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written down as a result of 

an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using the rate of interest used to discount the 

future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss.

2.8 Fee and commission income

Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when the service has been 

provided except for structuring fees (i.e. fees related to structuring, term sheet negotiation and co-

ordination) which are recognised at the completion of work. Commitment fees for loans that are 

likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognised as an 

adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan. Commission and fees arising from 

negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of a transaction for a third party – such as the 
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arrangement of the acquisition of shares or other securities, or the purchase or sale of businesses 

– are recognised on completion of the underlying transaction. Portfolio and other management 

advisory and service fees are recognised based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a 

time-apportionate basis. Performance-linked fees or fee components are recognised when the 

performance criteria are fulfilled.

2.9 Sale and repurchase agreements

Securities sold subject to repurchase agreements 'repos' are reclassified in the financial statements 

as pledged assets when the transferee has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the 

collateral; the counterparty liability is included in amounts due to other banks, deposits from 

banks, other deposits or deposits due to customers, as appropriate. Securities purchased under 

agreements to resell reverse repos are recorded as loans and advances to other banks or 

customers, as appropriate. The difference between sale and repurchase price is treated as interest 

and accrued over the life of the agreements using the effective interest method. Securities lent to 

counterparties are also retained in the financial statements.

2.10 Impairment of financial assets

a) Assets carried at amortised cost

The Corporation assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial 

assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 

impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial recognition of the asset (a 

loss event) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the 

financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.  Objective evidence that 

a financial asset or group of assets is impaired includes observable data that comes to the 

attention of the Corporation about the following loss events:-

(i) significant financial difficulty of the borrower;

(ii) a breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal repayments;

(iii) the corporation granting to the borrower, for economic or legal reasons relating to the 

borrower's financial difficulty, a concession that the Corporation would not otherwise 

consider;

(iv) it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation;

(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial 

difficulties; or

(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash 

flows from a group of financial assets since the initial recognition of those assets, although 

the decrease cannot yet be identified with the individual financial assets in the Corporation, 

including:

- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the Corporation; or 

- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the assets in the 

Corporation.
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The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is determined by the executive 

management for each identified portfolio.  In general, the periods used vary between 3 and 12 

months. In exceptional cases, longer periods are warranted.

The Corporation first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists individually for 

financial assets that are individually significant, and individually or collectively for financial assets 

that are not individually significant.  If the Corporation determines that no objective evidence of 

impairment exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes 

the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively 

assesses them for impairment.  Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for which 

an impairment loss is or continues to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of 

impairment.

The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's carrying amount and the 

present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding) future credit losses that have not been 

incurred) discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate.  The carrying amount of 

the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the loss is 

recognised in the income statement.  If a loan or held-to-maturity asset has a variable interest 

rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 

determined under the contract.  As a practical expedient, the Corporation may measure 

impairment on the basis of an instrument's fair value using an observable market price.

The calculation of the present value of the estimated cash flows of a collateralised financial asset 

reflects the cash flows that may result from foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the 

collateral, whether or not the foreclosure is probable.

For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are grouped on the 

basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e. on the basis of the Corporation's grading process 

that considers asset type, industry, geographical location, collateral type, past-due status and 

other relevant factors).  Those characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for 

groups of such assets by being indicative of the debtors' ability to pay all amounts due according 

to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.

Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated for impairment are 

estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of the assets in the Corporation and historical 

loss experience for assets with credit risk characteristics similar to those in the Corporation.  

Historical loss experience is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects 

of current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss experience is based 

and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical period that do not currently exist.

Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should reflect and be directionally 

consistent with changes in related observable data from period to period (for example, changes 

in unemployment rates, property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in 

the probability of losses in the Corporation and their magnitude). The methodology and 

assumptions used for estimating future cash flows are reviewed regularly by the Corporation to 

reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related provision for loan impairment. 
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Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the 

amount of the loss has been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off 

decrease the amount of provision for loan impairment in the income statement. If, in a 

subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 

objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in 

the debtor's credit rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the 

allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the income statement.

b) Assets classified as available for sale

The Corporation assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective evidence that a 

financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In the case of equity investments 

classified as available for sale, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the security 

below its cost is considered in determining whether the assets are impaired. If any such evidence 

exists for available for-sale financial assets, the cumulative loss – measured as the difference 

between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial 

asset previously recognised in the income statement – is removed from equity and recognised in 

the income statement. If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as 

available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after 

the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit 

or loss.

2.11 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested 

annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 

The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For 

the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). The impairment test also can be 

performed on a single asset when the fair value less cost to sell or the value in use can be 

determined reliably. Non-financial assets that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible 

reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise balances 

with less than three month's maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash and non-

restricted balances with central banks, treasury bills and other eligible bills, loans and advances to 

banks, amounts due from other banks and short term government securities.

2.13 Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is 

entered into and are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. Fair values are obtained from 

quoted market prices in active markets (for example, for exchange-traded options), including 

recent market transactions, and valuation techniques (for example for swaps and currency 
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transactions), including discounted cash flow models and options pricing models, as appropriate. 

All derivatives are carried as assets when fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is 

negative.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in a 

purchased convertible bond, are treated as separate derivatives when their economic 

characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contract and the host contract 

is not carried at fair value through profit or loss. These embedded derivatives are separately 

accounted for at fair value, with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement unless 

the Corporation chooses to designate the hybrid contracts at fair value through profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument that does not qualify for hedge accounting 

are recognised immediately in the income statement under 'net gains/(losses) on financial 

instruments classified as held for trading'. However, the gains and losses arising from changes in 

the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction with financial assets or financial 

liabilities designated at fair value are included in 'net gains on financial instruments designated at 

fair value'.

2.14 Hedge accounting

Derivatives are used to hedge interest rate, exchange rate, commodity, and equity exposures and 

exposures related to non-trading positions. Where derivatives are held for risk management 

purposes, and when transactions meet the required criteria, the Corporation applies fair value 

hedge accounting, cash flow hedge accounting, or hedging of a net investment in a foreign 

operation as appropriate to the risks being hedged. When a financial instrument is designated as 

a hedge, the Corporation formally documents the relationship between the hedging instrument 

and hedged item as well as its risk management objectives and its strategy for undertaking the 

various hedging transactions. The Corporation also documents its assessment, both at hedge 

inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in hedging 

transactions are highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of hedged items.

The Corporation discontinues hedge accounting when:

(a) it is determined that a derivative is not, or has ceased to be, highly effective as a 

hedge;

(b) the derivative expires, is terminated, or exercised;

(c) the hedged item matures or is repaid

(a) Fair value hedge accounting

Changes in fair value of derivatives that qualify and are designated as fair value hedges are 

recorded in the income statement, together with changes in the fair value of the hedged asset 

or liability that are attributable to the hedged risk. If the hedge relationship no longer meets 

the criteria for hedge accounting, it is discontinued. For fair value hedges of interest rate risk, 

the fair value adjustment to the hedged item is amortised to the income statement over the 

period to maturity of the previously designated hedge relationship using the effective interest 

method. If the hedged item is sold or repaid, the unamortised fair value adjustment is 

recognised immediately in the income statement.
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(b) Cash flow hedges

For qualifying cash flow hedges, the fair value gain or loss associated with the effective 

portion of the cash flow hedge is recognised initially in shareholders' equity, and recycled to 

the income statement in the periods when the hedged item will affect profit or loss. Any 

ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised in the income 

statement immediately. When a hedging instrument expires or when a hedge no longer 

meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that 

time remains in equity and is recognised when the hedged item is ultimately recognised in 

the income statement. 

(c) Hedges of net investments

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations, including monetary items that are 

accounted for as part of the net investment, are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges; 

the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in 

equity and the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. The 

cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in equity is recognised in the income statement 

on the disposal or partial disposal of the foreign operation, or other reductions in the 

Corporation's investment in the operation.

Hedges of net investments may include non-derivative liabilities as well as derivative financial 

instruments.

2.15 Property and equipment

All property and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment. 

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or are recognised as a separate 

asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 

item will flow to the Corporation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.  The carrying 

amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 

the income statement during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate cost to residual value over 

estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehold improvement 25 years or over the period of the lease if less.

Furniture and office equipment 3 - 8 years

Motor vehicles 4 years

The asset's residual values and useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 

each reporting period.

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 

circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.  An asset's carrying 

amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is 

greater than its estimated recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the 

asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
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Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount.  

These are included in the income statement.

2.16 Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise separately identifiable items arising from computer software licences 

and other intangible assets. Intangible assets are recognised at cost. Intangible assets with a 

definite useful life are amortised using the straight-line method over the estimated useful 

economic life. Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are not amortised. At each date of the 

statement of financial position, intangible assets are reviewed for indications of impairment or 

changes in estimated future economic benefits. If such indications exist, the intangibles assets are 

analysed to assess whether their carrying amount is fully recoverable. An impairment loss is 

recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount. The Corporation chooses to 

use the cost model for the measurement after recognition. Intangible assets with indefinite useful 

life are annually tested for impairment and whenever there is an indication that the asset may be 

impaired.

a) Computer software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire 

and bring to use the specific software. These costs are amortised on the basis of the expected 

useful lives.

Costs associated with developing or maintaining computer software programs are recognised as 

an expense incurred. Costs that are directly associated with the production of identifiable and 

unique software products controlled by the Corporation, and that will generate economic benefits 

exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible assets. Direct costs include the 

software development employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Computer software costs recognised as assets are amortised using the straight-line method over 3 

years.

Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and 

unique software products controlled by the Corporation are recognised as intangible assets when 

the following criteria are met:

(i) It is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use.

(ii) Management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it.

(iii) There is an ability to use or sell the software product.

(iv) It can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic 

benefits.

(v) Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use 

or sell the software product are available; and

(vi) The expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably 

measured.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as 

incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 
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in a subsequent period

b) Project Development Expenditure

Costs associated with development  of projects are capitalised when they meet the following 

recognition requirements of IAS 38:- (i) the cost can be separated from other costs of the business; 

(ii) future economic benefits will flow to the Corporation; (iii) the cost of the asset can be measured 

reliably.

2.17 Employee Benefits

The Corporation's pension framework is still being developed and will be finalised in the new 

financial year.  Funds are currently being set aside in lieu of employer contributions to the pension 

fund.

2.18 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Corporation has a present legal or constructive obligation as 

a result of past events. It is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to 

settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 

settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  A provision is 

recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 

class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle 

the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of 

time is recognised as interest expense.

2.19 Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, being their issue proceeds (fair value of 

consideration received) net of transaction costs incurred.  Borrowings are subsequently stated at 

amortised cost; any difference between proceeds net of transaction costs and the redemption 

value is recognised in the income statement over the period of the borrowing using the effective 

interest method.

2.20 Share capital

a) Share issue costs

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options or to the 

acquisition of a business are shown in equity as a deduction from the proceeds.

b) Dividends on ordinary shares

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the year in which they are approved 

by the Corporation's shareholders.
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c) Treasury shares

Where the Corporation purchase its equity shares, the consideration paid is deducted from 

total shareholders' equity as treasury shares until they are cancelled.  Where such shares are 

subsequently sold or reissued, any consideration received is included in shareholders' equity.

2.21 Dividend income and payment

Dividends are recognised in profit or loss when the Corporation's right to receive payment is 

established. Dividends on ordinary shares are charged to equity in the period in which they are 

declared.

2.22 Acceptances and letters of credit

Acceptances and letters of credit are accounted for as off-balance sheet transactions and 

disclosed as contingent liabilities.

2.23 Comparatives

Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all amounts are 

reported or disclosed with comparative information. Where IAS 8 applies, comparative figures 

have been adjusted to conform with changes in presentation in the current year.

3. Financial Risk Management

AFC's business philosophy recognises that risks are an inevitable consequence of being in business. 

The Corporation's aim therefore is not to eliminate all risks, but to design policies; processes and 

procedures that will enable it achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return. AFC believes 

that a strong risk management function is key to its successful long-term operations. 

                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                     

AFC operates a multi-layered risk management governance structure, with the Board of Directors at 

the apex of the structure, exercising and assuming ultimate authority and responsibility for the 

Corporation's risk management. Other layers in the risk management governance structure are (i) 

Board Risk and Investment Committee, responsible for oversight and approval of risk policies, and 

credit approvals above management's authority levels; (ii) Executive Management Committee, (EXCO) 

responsible for review of investment proposals, and exercise of management's delegated authority for 

investment approvals; (iii) Management Risk Committee, responsible for the risk policy review and 

implementation; (iv) Risk Management Division, responsible for risk policy development, management 

and monitoring; and (v) Business Units, responsible for the creation and management of risk assets.

The most important types of risks faced by the Corporation are credit risk, market risk and operational 

risk. These individual sources of risk and how the Corporation manages them are described in more 

detail below. 

3.1 Credit Risk

The Corporation takes on exposures to credit risk, which is the risk of financial loss as a result of a 

failure by a client or counterparty to meet its contractual obligation to the Corporation.  The 
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Corporation has two principal sources of credit risk: (i) credit risk on its loans and investment; and 

(ii) counterparty credit risk on its portfolio of treasury investments.  The first source of credit risk has 

become increasingly significant as the level of the Corporation's investment portfolio has risen.  

The Corporation's credit risks are managed within a framework of credit policies, guidelines and 

processes, which are described in more detail in 3.1.1 and 3.1.2 below.

3.1.1 Project and Investment Credit Risk

The Corporation has developed a comprehensive Credit Risk Policy (CRP) that details its risk 

philosophy and metrics.  The CRP defines the level and type of credit exposures that AFC is 

prepared to accept in order to achieve its business goals and objectives. It defines the 

Corporation's risk appetite along three key metrics; Capital Adequacy Framework, Exposure 

Limits Framework and Credit Risk Acceptance criteria.

AFC's Capital Adequacy Framework creates a quantifiable link between the risks assumed and 

the amount of risk capital required to support those risks. The capital adequacy framework 

ensures that the Corporation holds adequate levels of capital to support its investment 

operations.

AFC uses the Exposure Limits Framework to manage its exposures to individual and group credit 

risks.  The objective is to ensure that AFC avoids excessive portfolio concentration either in single 

projects or groups of projects, or in particular sectors and countries that could be simultaneously 

affected by similar exogenous events. The Exposure Limits Framework defines the limits of risk 

exposures in relation to a single borrower or groups of borrowers, to industry sectors and to 

individual countries. The limits are recommended by management and approved by the Board 

Risk and Investment Committee.

The Credit Risk Acceptance Criteria refer to the set of terms and conditions to be met before an 

investment is accepted into AFC's portfolio. These include specific industry, financial, managerial 

and competitive benchmarks that proposed investments must attain before they are considered 

for AFC credit exposures.

3.1.2 Counterparty Credit Risk

AFC invests its liquid resources in different financial instruments to generate income. These 

financial instruments involve, to some degree, the risk that the counterparty to the transaction may 

be unable to meet its obligation to the Corporation when it falls due. The Corporation manages 

this counterparty risk by executing transactions within a prudent framework of approved 

counterparties, counterparty credit rating standards and counterparty risk exposures limits. The 

risk exposure limit for each counterparty is a function of the counterparty's credit rating and its 

shareholders funds (unimpaired by losses). The risk limits are proposed by the Risk Management 

Division and approved by the Executive Management Committee.

3.1.3 Credit risk measurement

The estimation of credit exposure is complex and requires the use of models, as the value of a 

product varies with changes in market variables, expected cash flows and the passage of time. 

The assessment of credit risk of a portfolio of assets entails further estimations as to the likelihood 
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of defaults occurring, of the associated loss ratios and of default correlations between 

counterparties.

The Corporation has developed models to support the quantification of the credit risk. These 

rating and scoring models are in use for all key credit portfolios and form the basis for measuring 

default risks. In measuring credit risk of loan and advances at a counterparty level, the 

Corporation considers three components: (i) the 'probability of default' (PD) by the client or 

counterparty on its contractual obligations; (ii) current exposures to the counterparty and its likely 

future development, from which the Corporation derives the 'exposure at default' (EAD); and (iii) 

the likely recovery ratio on the defaulted obligations (the 'loss given default') (LGD). The models 

are reviewed regularly to monitor their robustness relative to actual performance and amended 

as necessary to optimise their effectiveness.

3.1.4 Risk limit control and mitigation policies

The Corporation manages limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are 

identified − in particular, to individual counterparties and Corporations, and to industries and 

countries. The Corporation structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the 

amount of risk accepted in relation to one borrower, or group of borrowers, and to geographical 

and industry segments. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to an annual or 

more frequent review, when considered necessary. Limits on the level of credit risk by product, 

industry sector and country are approved by the Board Risk and Investment Committee.

3.1.5 Credit Concentration

 Maximum exposure

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Balances with central and 

commercial banks 12,769 156,873

Loan and advances to banks 587,867 756,681

Loan and advances to other customers 352,557 100,529

Other assets 2,283 836

As at 31 December 955,476 1,014,919

The above table represents a worse case scenario of credit risk exposure of the Corporation at 31 

December 2011 without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements 

attached.  For on-balance-sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying 

amounts as reported in the balance sheet.

Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of 

credit risk to the Corporation resulting from its loan and advances portfolio.
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3.1.6 Loans and advances

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Loans and advances are summarised as follows:

Neither past due nor impaired 940,424 857,210

The Corporation has no provision for loans and advances as at 31st December 2011 because no 

loans and advances were considered to be impaired (2010: Nil).

The credit quality of the loans and advances to banks and other customers that are neither past 

due nor impaired are detailed below:

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Counterparties with international credit rating 

(S&P, Fitch, GCR)

Investment grade (AAA, AA+, AA, AA-, A+, A, A-) 180,643 300,800

Standard monitoring (BBB+, BBB, BBB-, BB+, BB, BB-, B+, B, B-) 446,796 443,376

627,439 744,176

Counterparties without credit ratings

Group 1 117,993 -

Group 2 194,992 113,034

312,985 113,034

Total unimpaired nor past due loans

and advances to Banks 940,424 857,210

Group 1 – New customers/related parties (less than 6 months).

Group 2 – Existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with no defaults in the past.

Group 3 – Existing customers/related parties (more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past.

 All defaults were fully recovered.
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3.1.7 Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit risk exposure

Geographical sectors

The following table analyses the Corporation's main credit exposure at their carrying amounts, as 

categorised by geographical region as at 31 December 2011.  The Corporation has allocated 

exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.

West Africa Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central and

commercial banks 3,316 9,453 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 282,636 305,231 587,867

Loans and advances to other customers 182,899 169,658 352,557

Other assets 2,283 - 2,283

As at 31 December 2011 471,134 484,342 955,476

Cash and balances with central and

commercial banks 1,496 155,377 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 287,846 468,835 756,681

Loans and advances to other customers 65,813  34,716 100,529

Other assets 836 - 836

As at December 2010 355,991 658,928 1,014,919

3.2 Market Risk

AFC takes on exposures to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a 

financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from 

open positions in interest rates, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general 

and specific market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such 

as interest rates, credit spreads foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Corporation has no 

trading portfolios as at 31 December 2011 (December 2010: nil).

3.2.1 Market risk measurement techniques

As part of the management of market risk, the Corporation undertakes various hedging strategies 

with hedge accounting. 

The major measurement techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below.

(a) Value at Risk

The Corporation applies “Value at Risk” (VAR)  methodology to quantify and control market risk 

of assets and liabilities designated at fair value. This methodology is applied to individual 

portfolios and on an enterprise wide basis.
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VAR is a statistically based estimate of the maximum expected loss on the current portfolio from 

adverse market movements. This maximum expected loss is characterized with a level of 

confidence (95%) and a holding period (1 day). This infers that realized losses may exceed the 

VAR estimate 5 days out of every 100 days, this assumption is monitored daily by comparing 

realized gains/losses against the estimate. The variant of VAR used by the Corporation is 

Historical Simulation VAR, this variant has an implicit assumption that future market movements 

are similar to historical market movements.

As VAR constitutes an integral part of the Corporation's market risk control regime, VAR limits are 

established by the Board annually and allocated to business units. Actual exposure against limits, 

together with a Corporation-wide VAR, is reviewed daily. Average daily FX is $67,000 (2011) and  

average daily Interest Rate VAR is $1,085,647 (2011). The quality of the VAR model is 

continuously monitored by back-testing the VAR estimates against actuals. All back-testing 

exceptions (positive or negative) are investigated, and reported to EXCO daily and ALCO 

monthly.

(b) Stress Test

Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme 

conditions. The Corporation carries out stress tests for its core investment and treasury portfolios.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee agrees the range of scenarios to be tested and the 

independent risk function co-ordinates the process, using bottom-up analysis performed by the 

businesses. The results of the stress tests are reviewed by the Executive Management and the 

Board Risk and Investment Committee.

VAR summary for 2011 and 2010

3.2.2 Foreign exchange risk

The Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency 

exchange rates on its financial position and cash flows. The Board sets limits on the level of 

exposure by currency which is monitored. The table below summarizes the Corporation's 

exposure to foreign exchange rate risk at 31 December 2011. Included in the table are the 

Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by currency.

 
 

12 months to 31 December 2011 
 

6 months to 31 December 2010 

All numbers in US$‘000 
Average  
 

High 
 

Low 
 

Average 
 

High 
 

Low 
 

Foreign exchange risk      67    285   8   2 143 79 

Interest rate risk 1,085 1,410 11 26   63 10 

Total VAR 1,152 1,695 19 28 196 89 
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Concentrations of currency risk – on-balance sheet financial instruments

As at 31 December 2011 Dollar Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central 

and commercial banks 10,765 2,004 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 587,867 - 587,867

Loans and advances to other 

customers 352,557 - 352,557

Investment securities 280,064 14,997 295,061

Other assets 426 1,857 2,283

Total financial assets 1,231,679 18,858 1,250,537

Borrowings 80,126 - 80,126

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 7,328 412 7,740

Total financial liabilities 87,454 412 87,866

Net on balance sheet financial position 1,144,225 18,446 1,162,671

As at 31 December 2010 Dollar Others Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Assets

Cash and balances with central 

and commercial banks 156,873 - 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 754,690 1,991 756,681

Loans and advances to other customers 100,529 - 100,529

Investment securities 115,281 - 115,281

Other assets 836 - 836

Total financial assets 1,128,209 1,991 1,130,200

Accrued expenses and other liabilities 3,353 - 3,353

Net on balance sheet financial position 1,124,856 1,991 1,126,847

3.2.3 Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  Fair value interest rate is the risk that the 

value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  The 

Corporation takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market 

interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow risks.  Interest margins may increase as a result of 

such changes but may reduce losses in the event that unexpected movements arise.  The board 

sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken.

The table below summarises the Corporation's exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the 

Corporation's financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier contractual 
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repricing or maturity dates

As at 31 December 2011

Assets Up to 3 Above 3 Non Interest

months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central and 

Commercial banks 12,760 - 9 12,769

Loans and advances to banks 557,867 30,000 - 587,867

Loans and advances to customers 340,495 12,062 - 352,557

Investment securities 29,029 151,458 114,574 295,061

Other assets - - 2,283 2,283

Total financial assets 940,151 193,520 116,866 1,250,537

Liabilities

Borrowings - 80,126 - 80,126

Other liabilities - - 7,740 7,740

Total financial liabilities - 80,126 7,740 87,866

Total interest repricing gap 940,151 113,394 109,126 1,162,671

As at 31 December 2010

Assets Up to 3 Above 3 Non Interest

months months Bearing Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Cash and balances with central 156,832 - 41 156,873

Loans and advances to banks 756,681 - - 756,681

Loans and advances to customers 83,745 16,784 - 100,529

Investment securities - - 115,281 115,281

Other assets - - 836 836

Total financial assets 997,258 16,784 116,158 1,130,200

Liabilities

Other liabilities - - 3,353 3,353

Total interest repricing gap 997,258 16,784 112,805 1,126,847

3.3 Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation is unable to meet its payment obligations associated 

with its financial liabilities when they fall due and to replace funds when they are withdrawn. The 

consequence may be the failure to meet obligations to repay lenders and fulfil commitments to 

lend.

The Corporation's liquidity management process includes:

- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that 

requirements can be met. 
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- Monitoring balance sheet liquidity ratios against internal requirements; and 

- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.  

The Corporation holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality liquid assets to support 

financial obligations and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Corporation's 

assets held for managing liquidity risk comprises: 

- Cash and balances with central and commercial banks.

- Loan and advances to banks.

- Secondary sources of liquidity in the form of highly liquid instruments in the 

Corporation's fixed income portfolios.

Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the month. 

The starting point for those projections is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial 

liabilities and the expected collection date of the financial assets. 

It is the policy of the Corporation to maintain a minimum liquidity ratio of 30%, while keeping its 

'Minimum Liquidity Level' (MLL) at eighteen months at all times. 

The table below analyses the Corporation's financial instruments into relevant maturity groupings 

based on the remaining period at the balance sheet to the contractual maturity date. The 

amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 

12 months equal the carrying balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Above

Up to 3 months  3 months Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 31 December 2011

Total financial liabilities 7,740 80,126 87,866

(Contractual maturity dates)

Total financial assets 833,414 122,062 955,476

(Contractual maturity dates)

Above

Up to 3 months  3 months Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

As at 31 December 2010

Total financial liabilities 3,353 - 3,353

(Contractual maturity dates)

Total financial assets 998,135 16,784 1,014,919

(Contractual maturity dates)
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3.4 Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people 

and systems, or from external events.  It includes the risk of failing to comply with applicable laws 

and regulations as well as reputation and franchise risks associated with the Corporation's 

business practice or market conduct.  Failure to manage and adequately control operational risks 

could result in significant financial losses.  Potentially, it could also result in damage to the 

Corporation's reputation which could undermine growth by reducing client base.

AFC operational risk procedures comprises of: identification and assessment of key operational 

risks; establishment and monitoring of key risk indicators; and comprehensive reporting of 

operational risk to executive management and Board of Directors.  The primary responsibility for 

managing operational risks on a day-to-day basis, lies with the business and support functions.  

Each business and support function has established processes and controls to address the 

operational risks inherent in their activities.

The Board Risk and Investment Committee has approved the Corporation's operational risk 

management framework, which is being implemented by the executive management, with the 

Risk Management Committee providing oversight.  The committee receives regular reporting of 

operational risk exposures and loss events and also reviews the results of the quarterly Risk and 

Control Self Assessments.  The Chief Risk Officer is responsible for the independence, objectivity 

and effectiveness of the Corporation's operational risk framework.  A database of operational risk 

events is maintained which indicates operational risk exposures.

3.5 Capital Management

The Corporation's objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the 'equity' 

on the balance sheet are:

- to comply with the capital requirements set by the board of directors of the 

Corporation;

- to safeguard the Corporation's ability to continue as a going concern so that it can 

continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; 

and

- to maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.

Capital adequacy is monitored regularly by the Corporation's management, employing 

techniques derived from the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee.

The Corporation's Capital Adequacy Framework requires the business to maintain a ratio of total 

risk capital to the risk-weighted asset (the Basel ratio) at a minimum of 30%.

The Corporation's capital is managed by the Finance and Treasury Division and currently 

comprises only of Tier 1 capital as shown below:

Tier 1: Comprises of share capital, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations 

of retained earnings.
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The risk weighted assets are measured by means of a hierarchy of risk weights classified according 

to the nature of (and reflecting an estimate of credit, market and other risks associated with) each 

asset and counterparty, taking into account any eligible collateral or guarantees.  A similar 

treatment is adopted for off-balance sheet exposure, with some adjustments to reflect the more 

contingent nature of the potential losses.

The table below summarises the composition of capital and the ratios of the Corporation for the 

year ended 31 December 2011. The Corporation has no externally imposed capital 

requirements, but complied with its own internal rules during the year under review.

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Tier 1 capital

Share capital 1,089,117 1,089,319

Retained earnings 78,790 44,041

Total qualifying Tier 1 capital 1,167,907 1,133,360

Risk-weighted assets:

On-balance sheet 1,125,221 618,216

Off-balance sheet 18,191 47,489

Total risk-weighted assets 1,143,412 665,705

Basel ratio 102.1% 170.2%

3.6 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

Effective 1 January 2009, the Corporation adopted the amendment to IFRS 7 for the financial 

instruments that are measured in the balance sheet at fair value, this requires disclosures of fair 

value measurement by level of the following fair value measurement hierarchy:

Ÿ Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

Ÿ Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset 

or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) 

(level 2).

Ÿ Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 

unobservable inputs) (level 3).
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The following table presents the Corporation's financial assets that are measured at fair value at 

31 December 2011.

As at 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities - - 114,574

Total assets - - 114,574

As at 31 December 2010

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities - - 115,281

Total assets - - 115,281

3.7 Financial instruments by category

As at 31 December 2011

Assets as per balance sheet Loans and Available Held to

Receivables for sale Maturity Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities - 114,574 180,487 295,061

Trade and other receivables

excluding pre-payments 377,577 - - 377,577

Cash and cash equivalents 558,348 - - 558,348

Balances with central and 

Commercial banks 12,760 - - 12,760

Total 948,685 114,574 180,487 1,243,746

As at 31 December 2010

Assets as per balance sheet Loans and Available Held to 

Receivables for sale Maturity Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Investment securities - 115,281 - 115,281

Trade and other receivables

excluding pre-payments 100,529 - - 100,529

Cash and cash equivalents 742,776 - - 742,776

Balances with central and 

Commercial banks 156,584  - - 156,584

Total 999,889 115,281 - 1,115,170

31 December 2011
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments in applying accounting policies

AFC's financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions, 

estimates and management judgement, which necessarily have to be made in the course of 

preparation of the financial statements. 

The Corporation makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 

liabilities within the next financial year.  Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are 

based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances

The Corporation reviews its loan portfolio to assess impairment on an ongoing basis.  In 

determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the income statement, the 

Corporation makes judgements as to whether there is any observable data indicating that there is 

a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the 

decrease can be identified with an individual loan in that portfolio.  This evidence may include 

observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of 

borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on 

asset in the Corporation.  Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for 

assets with credit risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the 

portfolio when scheduling its future cash flows.  The methodology and assumptions used for 

estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any 

differences between loss estimates and actual loss experience.

(b) Impairment of available for-sale equity investments

The Corporation determines that available-for-sale equity investments are impaired when there 

has been a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value below its cost.  This determination of 

what is significant or prolonged requires judgement.  In making this judgement, the Corporation 

evaluates among other factors, the normal volatility in share price.  In addition, impairment may 

be appropriate when there is evidence of a deterioration in the financial health of the investee, 

industry and sector performance, changes in technology, and operational and financing cash 

flows.

5. Business Units

The Corporation's primary objective is to finance infrastructure: power heavy industry,  natural 

resources and transport projects in Africa and to provide advisory, project development and other 

services related thereto.

1) Investment

This service group offers financing, advisory and arranging services to infrastructure companies in 

Africa.  AFC prioritises project financing, taking an active role across the financial value chain to 

originate, structure and syndicate major projects. Financial products offered by AFC include 

senior debt, equity and hybrid investment products such as quasi equity or subordinate debt.

2) Origination and Coverage

The Origination and Coverage division has responsibility for deal origination, customer 
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relationship management, , development and structuring of projects developing projects from 

concept to a bankable investment and acquisition drawing on sector specialist skills, networks 

and capabilities.  The division additionally provides technical and economic advisory services to 

requisite industry segments in early stage project development, techno-economic analysis, 

feasibility studies and detailed engineering, environmental assessments, as well as performance 

enhancements to operating assets.

The Project Development unit of this division is the flagship differentiating platform which 

underpins AFC's strategy to play a leading role in addressing the continent's  infrastructure deficit.  

It identifies and develops 'bankable' infrastructure projects from inception to financial close and in 

return earns developer management fees and provides a captive pipeline of viable projects in 

which AFC can invest.

3) Finance and Treasury

Finance and Treasury is responsible for capital raising for the Corporation covering both debt and 

equity, ensuring that the Corporation has adequate capital and the desired capital structure at all 

times . In this role, the Division interfaces with the Corporation's bankers, potential lenders and 

other providers of capital. The Division is also responsible for the management of the liquidity of 

the Corporation, ensuring that all liquidity risk management indices are met and that the 

Corporation is liquid at all times to meet its contractual obligations under normal and stressed 

environments. It is also responsible for designing and executing hedges to manage the 

Corporation's exposure to market risk. 

The segment information provided to the Corporation's Board for their reportable segments for 

the year ended 31 December 2011:

Investment Treasury Total

& Origination

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

Interest income 18,773 26,595 45,368

Dividend income 961 - 961

Fee and commission income 11,227 635 11,862

Interest & administrative expenses (19,445) (3,997) (23,442)

Operating profit 11,516 23,233 34,749

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

6. Interest income

Loans and advances

- From bonds 9,875 -

- From placements 20,709 23,443

- Others 14,784 5,982

45,368 29,425
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2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Interest expense

Borrowings

- From banks 1,246 -

- Others - -

1,246 -

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

7. Dividend income

Available for sale securities 961 -

961 -

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

8. Fee and commission income

Risk participation and commitment fees 2,738 2,952

Advisory and structuring fees 5,764 1,469

Arrangement fees 1,750 625

Facility fees 1,100 -

Others 510 857

11,862 5,903

9. Administrative expenses

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Staff cost:

Wages and salaries 14,763 10,389

Administrative expenses:

- Rent, rates and utilities 917 926

- Insurance 44 62

- Advertising and business promotion 835 666

- Auditor's remuneration 110 85

- Communication 906 780

- Travel 569 460

- Board expenses including directors fees 513 575

- Training 376 269

- Repairs and maintenance 55 66

- Other administrative expenses 1,297 1,304

- Depreciation (Notes 18 & 19) 1,811 1,872

22,196 17,454
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2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

10. Impairment charges

Equity investments - 5,846

Project Development costs - 869

Other assets - 252

- 6,967

11. Taxation

Under the Headquarters Agreement between AFC and the Government of the Federal Republic of 

Nigeria signed in May 2007, AFC is exempt from tax on all its income arising from operations in 

Nigeria. This is provided for in Diplomatic Immunities and Privileges Order, published in  Federal 

Republic of Nigeria Official Gazette No. 23 dated 15 February 2010 vol 97 section 1 (4)

12. Earnings per share

Basic

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to equity holders of the 

Corporation by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Profit attributable to equity holders of the

Corporation 34,749 10,907

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in

issue (thousands) 1,089,295 1,089,319

Basic earnings per share (expressed in cents

per share) 3.19 1.00

Diluted

The dilutive earnings is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares to 

assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  (There were no potential dilutive ordinary 

shares during the year).

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

in issue (thousands) 1,089,295 1,089,319

Dilutive earnings per share (expressed in

cents per share) 3.19 1.00
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13. Cash and balances with central and commercial banks

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand 9 41

Balances with central bank - 249

Balances with commercial banks 12,760 156,583

12,769 156,873

14. Loans and advances to banks

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Placements with banks 558,339 742,734

Advances under letters of credit 25,000 12,500

Interest receivable 4,528 1,447

587,867 756,681

All loans and advances to banks are current.

15. Loans and advances to other customers

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Project finance loans 95,509 31,443

Advances under trade finance 240,598 62,112

Shareholders loans 12,688 6,872

Interest and Fees receivable 3,762 102

352,557 100,529

16. Investment securities

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Non-equity investment securities:

- Corporate securities 129,472 -

- Sovereign securities 51,015 -

Equity security (unlisted) – at fair value 124,318 125,025

Allowance for impairment (9,744) (9,744)

295,061 115,281
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The movement in investment securities from the preceding financial year is as follows:

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 115,281 90,313

Additions 189,196 30,815

Capital repayments (9,416) -

Impairments during the year - (5,847)

At end of the year 295,061 115,281

17. Other assets

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Accounts receivable 1,862 836

Prepayments 2,932 3,124

Other assets 421 -

5,215 3,960

Current 2,283 836

Non-current 2,932 3,124

18. Property and equipment

Motor Leasehold Furniture

Vehicles improvement & equipment Total

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 31 December 2010

Cost 2,439 1,565 2,388 6,392

Accumulated depreciation (1,549) (964) (1,305) (3,818)

Net book amount 890 601 1,083 2,574

Year ended December 2011

Opening net book value 890 601 1,083 2,574

Additions 531 - 157 688

Disposal – cost (942) - - (942)

Disposals – accumulated depreciation 868 - - 868

Depreciation charge (577) (380) (494) (1,451)

Closing net book amount 770 221 746 1,737

Included in furniture and equipment are artworks totalling $130,317 that have not been depreciated. 

This is in line with the Corporation's accounting policy.
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19. Intangible assets

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Project development costs 1,853 1,853

Software cost 329 551

Allowance for impairment - (1,589)

Write off (1,615) -

567 815

Project development costs relate to ongoing projects. Software costs are costs incurred on the purchase 

and implementation of the Corporation's software.The movement in intangible assets from the 

preceding financial year is as follows:

Project Software Total

Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At1 January 2010 1,114 834 1,948

Additions 739 63 802

Impairment (1,589) - (1,589)

Amortisation - (346) (346)

At 31 December 2010 264 551 815

Project Software Total

Costs Costs Costs

US$'000 US$'000 US$'000

At 1 January 2011 264 551 815

Additions - 138 138

Amortisation - (360) (360)

Write offs (26) - (26)

At 31 December 2011 238 329 567

20. Accrued expenses and other liabilities

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Unearned commission 1,855 222

Accruals 4,133 1,237

Pension liabilities 1,579 1,130

Other liabilities 173 764

7,740 3,353

All liabilities above are current.
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21. Borrowings

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Short term borrowings 80,000 -

Interest payable & un-amortised borrowing cost 126 -

80,126 -

As part of its Prudential Financial Guideline, the Board of Directors has capped the Corporation's 

leverage ratio at a maximum of two times its shareholders funds unimpaired by losses.

22. Contingent liabilities and commitments

a. Legal proceedings

As at 31 December 2011, the Corporation had one pending legal proceeding in the court of law 

in the host country. The Directors are of the view and confident that in the unlilkely event of 

unfavourable outcome, the amount involved will be immaterial. 

b. Equity commitments

Capital commitments as at 31 December 2011 relate to equity financing commitments to third 

parties.

c. FX commitments

FX commitments as at 31 December 2011 relate to FX swap and FX option transaction with a 

counterparty.

d. Other commitments

Other commitments as at 31 December 2011 relate to trade transactions.

Commitment details as at 31 December 2011 are as follows:

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Equity commitment 14,516 18,692

Debt commitment 18,315 56,057

FX commitment 24,028 26,308

Other commitment 12,696 20,000

69,555 121,057

23. Special purpose companies

The Corporation had three incorporated special purpose companies namely AFC Asia Holdings in 

Hong Kong, AFC Infrastructure Limited and AFC Electric Limited in Seychelles. None of these 

companies has ever been in operation.  AFC Asia Holdings was de-registered in the year under review. 

Management has also progressed the process of liquidating and winding up AFC Infrastructure 

Limited and AFC Electric Limited in Seychelles. This is scheduled to be completed in the first quarter of 

2012.
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24. Share capital

No. of shares Ordinary

In thousands shares

US$'000

At 1 January 2010 1,089,319 1,089,319

At 31 December 2010 1,089,319 1,089,319

At 1 January 2011 1,089,319 1,089,319

Repurchased and cancelled during the year (202) -

(see note below)

At 31 December 2011 1,089,117 1,089,319

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 2 billion with a par value of US$1.00 per share. 

The General Meeting in September 2009 adopted a Resolution (Resolution No: AFC/AGM. 

1/2009/09/003) requiring private shareholders of the AFC who are natural persons to either transfer 

their shares into a Unit Trust or to voluntarily surrender their shares to the Corporation for repurchase at 

a price to be determined by the Corporation. Following a process whereby concerned shareholders 

were requested to indicate their option, pursuant to the General Meeting's Resolution, the Board of 

Directors adopted a Resolution (Resolution No: AFC/ Board/ 2011/02) in 2011 approving the 

repurchase of the shares of 5 shareholders who opted to sell their shares to the Corporation at the 

price determined by the Board of Directors. Four shareholders have since completed the process and 

received payment for their repurchased shares. The share certificates surrendered by the former 

shareholders have been cancelled and the Register of Shareholders has been updated accordingly.

25. Retained earnings

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

At beginning of the year 44,041 33,134

Retained earnings for the year 34,749 10,907

At end of the year 78,790 44,041

26. Dividend

Dividends are not accounted for until they have been ratified at the Annual General Meeting. 

The Board of Directors is proposing a dividend of 1.375 cents per share that will absorb approximately 

$15,000,000 of retained earnings. The resolution on payment of dividend will be tabled before the 

annual general meeting at its next meeting scheduled for 26 June 2012  and if approved, the dividend 

will be paid to all qualifying shareholders who are on the register of members at 26 June 2012.
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27. Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise the following 

balances with less than three months maturity from the date of acquisition.

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Cash in hand and balances with 

commercial banks (Note 13) 12,769 156,624

Placements with other banks (Note 14) 558,339 742,734

At end of the year 571,108 899,358

28. Related-party transactions

A number of transactions were entered into during the year with related parties in the normal course of 

business. These transactions were mainly with Nigerian banks which are all shareholders of the 

Corporation. The volumes of related party transactions, outstanding balances at year end, and related 

expense and income for the year are as follows:

a) Loans and advances to related parties

Banks and other  shareholders

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Loans outstanding as at end of year 268,786 346,354

Interest income earned 17,987 20,493

No provisions have been recognised in respect of any related party credit facility.

b) Key management compensation

2011 2010

US$'000 US$'000

Salaries and other short-term benefits 3,883 3,958

Key management staff refers to members of the Executive Management Committee, which are: (a) 

President and Chief Executive Officer, (b) Deputy Chief  Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer, 

(c) Executive Director, Corporate Services and General Counsel, (d) Director & Chief Financial Officer, 

(e) Director and Chief Coverage Officer, and (f) Chief Risk Officer 

29. Events after the balance sheet date

There were no events after the balance sheet date which materially affect these financial statements.
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